1941

The State of Utah v. C. H. Chealey : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The appellant was charged in the Information with the crime of involuntary manslaughter, said alleged crime arising out of the operation of an automobile; to which charge the appellant entered a plea of not guilty; the appellant was charged by the State with operating a motor vehicle in a northerly direction near the Draper crossroads on U. S. Highway number 91. The evidence tended to show that the defendant had picked up certain hitchhikers, among whom was the deceased, who was riding in the bed of the truck which defendant was driving; that while so driving, the defendant along with another occupant of the car drank some alcoholic beverages; that as the car approached the above mentioned place, the defendant ran his car off the road to the right, the defendant claiming that this was done to avoid a head-on collision and in doing so overturned the truck throwing the deceased against a telephone pole, the resulting impact causing the death of the deceased.

The case came on regularly for trial on the twenty second day of January, 1940, before the Honorable Will L. Hoyt, District Judge. The jury after hearing the evidence and considering the same brought in a verdict of guilty of the crime charged in the information. Thereafter, appellant was sentenced "to imprisonment in the County Jail, of Salt Lake County for a term of one year, "provided however that there be a stay of the last four months of the sentence, "subject to the further order of the Court." The appellant appeals from such judgment and conviction.

II

COMPLAINT

The complaint, omitting the title of the Court and cause and preliminary matters reads as follows, to-wit:

"That the said C. M. Schooley, at the time and place aforesaid, killed Earlan Junior Kofold without malice; contrary to the provisions of the Statute of the State aforesaid, in such cases made and provided, and against the peace and dignity of the State of Utah.

III

The appellant relies upon the following errors alleged to have been made by the Trial Court during the conduct of the trial below:

A. That the Trial Court erred in refusing to disregard appellant's challenge for cause against Edwin Bliss, juror, after the said Edwin Bliss had expressed a prejudice and bias towards drinking of intoxicating liquors when there occurred an automobile accident in which intoxicating liquor was involved.

(Trans 62-67, Abs. 7)

B. That the Trial Court erred in denying the motion of the defendant for the dismissal of the case at the conclusion of the State's evidence for the reason that there was no causal connection shown between any unlawful act and the death of the deceased.

(Trans. 149, Abs. 39)

C. That the Trial Court erred in refusing the defendant's motion for a directed verdict at the end of the case for the reason that there was no causal connection shown between the drinking and the accident which resulted in the death of the deceased, and

once there was no joint act or intent or act of
negligence as is required by the law of the State
of Utah. (T 137 - A 60)

D. That the Court erred in permitting the
witness Leroy D. Williams to testify as an expert.
(T 131 - A 22)

E. That the Trial Court erred in admitting
into evidence State's Exhibit A over objection.
(T 144 - A 37)

F. That the court erred in overruling the
defendant's objection to the conversation between
Luther L. Smith and Leta Kinney at a time when the
defendant was not present, for the reason that said
conversation was hearsay as to the defendant.
(T 137)

G. That the Trial Court erred in refusing to
grant defendant's proposed instruction regarding
the term "ALIBI NEGLIGENCE."

H. That the Trial Court erred in refusing
to grant defendant's proposed instruction number
3 regarding proximate cause.
(T A 62)

I. That the Trial Court erred in refusing to
grant defendant's proposed instruction number 4

regarding the emergency rule, which is as follows: "If the jury finds that the defendant acted as a reasonable prudent man would act under the circumstances to avoid an accident then he is not liable for the unforeseen consequences of his act and is not guilty." (T 62)

IV

ARGUMENT

The above set out assignments of error upon which the appellant relies will be discussed in the sequence heretofore given.

A

THAT THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO DISMISS THE JURY, AGAIN, AFTER ON CHALLENGE FOR CAUSE.
(T 62-7 - A 97)

The situation that brought about the challenge was as follows: The jury had been questioned by the Court when J. Lambert Gibson, one of the appellant's attorneys asked the following question:
(T 62)

MR. GIBSON A: I would like to have another question asked, whether they have any prejudice in or
itself to a man taking a drink, or any religious

scruples against it."

THE COURT: You have heard the question stated by counsel, whether any of you do have an religious scruples or strong antipathy against a man taking a drink of liquor.

A JUROR: (This man was Juror Edwin Bliss, see T. page 67.) I would if an automobile accident was involved, that was relating in any way to an automobile accident, I would be very strong against it, not a religious matter, otherwise.

THE COURT: Do you mean by that if the evidence in this case showed that a man, although he had taken a drink or two of beer and was not in any way intoxicated, would you still have a strong antipathy against the habit of drinking, so that it might influence you, although you believed from the evidence that his faculties were not disturbed or upset. Any of you.

A JUROR: I distinctly believe a man should not drink that drives an automobile.

Following the above questions and answers, Mr. Midgley was excused from the jury for stating a definite prejudice. Counsel then asked that Mr.

Bliss be excused. Mr. Hawlings resisted the challenge. Mr. Bliss then in contradiction with his previous answer said that he would not be prejudiced. The challenge was refused. (T 65-7)

Juror Bliss clearly indicated in his answer to the first questions propounded to him that he was biased to the extent that he could not fairly consider the evidence presented before the Court. The situation comes clearly within 105-31-13, Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933, the subdivision relating to when jurors may be challenged for cause for indicating actual bias as follows:

"A particular cause of challenge is:

(1) For the existence of a state of mind on the part of the juror which leads to a just inference in reference to the case that he will not act with entire impartiality, which is known in this code as actual bias."

Mr. Bliss had formed the opinion prior to trial that he could not give a fair decision if there had been an automobile accident in which the drinking of intoxicating liquors was an element.

Utah 541, 62 Pacific 494, which holds that a juror was properly excused upon a showing that he had formed an opinion of the merits of the case.

In the case of State of Utah vs Morgan, 54 Utah 225, 236 Pacific, the subject of actual and implied bias is discussed at length and supports appellant's contention that Juror Bliss should have been dismissed because of the statements he made in response to the first questions propounded to him by the Court.

In the case of State of Montana vs Huffman, 89 Montana, 194, 296 Pacific 789, at page 790, the Court discussed the point of a juror admitting bias and prejudice in the early questioning of the juror and then under later questioning stated that he, juror, could and would consider the evidence impartially. A portion of the decision is quoted:

"Further, the trial court is the judge of the weight to be given to the testimony adduced on a voir dire examination, and if the trial Court has any doubt as to the existence of such a state of mind as would disqualify a juror, the court should sustain a challenge to such a juror in the interest

of justice (State v. Russell, 73 Mont. 240, 235 P 712), and, where a juror admits bias, his subsequent statement that he can consider the evidence impartially should be received with caution, for, "Even though a juror be biased, he will, it is said seldom admit inability to act impartially" (18 Cal. Jur 439, and cases cited.); on the record, we are of the opinion that the court properly exercised its discretion in excusing juror Boslaugh."

Juror Bliss had exhibited such bias that he most certainly could not have considered the case impartially. The situation presented before the Court was exactly the same as was presented before the court in the case of State vs Huffman supra. The denial of the challenge for cause made it necessary that juror Bliss be excused from the jury by one of the defendant's peremptory challenges. This was prejudicial to the defendant inasmuch as the peremptory challenge so used might have been used otherwise.

WAS THE COURT ERRING IN REFUSING MOTION FOR DISMISSAL FOR LACK OF CAUSAL CONNECTION BETWEEN UNLAWFUL ACT AND DEATH OF DECEASED.

The appellant contends that to convict him of involuntary manslaughter the state must show that, "death must have been the natural and probable consequence of the unlawful act, and the act the proximate cause," (39 Corpus Juris Page 1150) of the death of the deceased, Harlan Kofold.

No place in the State's evidence does it appear that the appellant had not been able to handle the truck in a proper manner, neither is there any evidence to show that the appellant was drunk or under the influence of liquor prior to the time of the accident.

Le Roy High, the boy who rode the truck from Cove, Utah to the place of the accident was not questioned by the prosecuting attorney on the matter of the appellant's drinking or on his ability to drive the truck. (T 78-22, Abst. 11-13)

The testimony of Donald Beek fails to show that the appellant acts a far more than normal though

it did show that the appellant imbibed some liqu

MR. GIBSON asked the following questions on cross examination, concerning the appellant's actions immediately following the accident. (Trans. 95)

Q. Did he seem anxious about how you were feeling at all?

A. I believe he acted like it.

Q. He seemed to be didn't he?

A. Yes.

The only other testimony on this point was the testimony of the investigating officers.

This testimony is in conflict.

Mr. Scheib in response to questions propounded by Mr. Rawlings, the District Attorney, states that he had a conversation with the appellant at the County Jail and further testified as follows:

A. "yes, sir, I talked to him when I got to the County Jail. It was asked if I knew him; knew who he was. I said, yes, that I knew him. I said his name, then I talked to him. I asked him a few question of him, he was very incoherent; he couldn't talk very plain; he couldn't hold himself very erect, he was very relaxed; he had a glassy stare in his eyes, and was very obviously drunk." (T 122-123.)

Subsequently, witness Scheib (T 102-7) stated appellant gave mixed up and incoherent answers.

The witness, Kinney, another County Officer who has with Mr. Scheib at the County Jail at the time above mentioned (T 103) testified as follows on cross examination:

Q. At the time you talked to the defendant how many times did you have to repeat the questions to him?

A. I don't know--there was just one point on which he had some difficulty.

Q. Otherwise he could give you coherent answers?

A. Yes, I understood him perfectly.

(T 102-7, A 60.)

The evidence as set out above did not show that the appellant was drunk. The investigating officers who saw and interviewed the defendant soon after the accident gave contradictory statements as to the appellant's condition and reaction. Mr. Kinney said that he was coherent, that the he understood

him perfectly. Donald Red, stated in substance that the appellant seemed anxious about him, which is the action of a normal man and not the action of one so intoxicated that he would run a truck off the road without reason.

The state did not show by the time and State rested that the death of Harlan Kofold was a "natural and probable consequence of the unlawful act, and the proximate cause."

In the case of *Wetter vs State* 162 Ind. 213-70 N.E. 129. The defendant carried a gun contrary to statute. He got into a scuffle with his friend. The friend was killed by the discharge of the gun. The defendant was convicted of involuntary manslaughter. The Supreme Court in the State of Indiana said (at Page 131) "It is undoubtedly true as a general rule of law, that a person engaged in the commission of an unlawful act is legally responsible for all of the consequences which may naturally or necessarily flow or result from such unlawful act." The Indiana case was reversed. Since the death was not "a natural or necessary result." In the case at hand, the death of Harlan

Kofold, ruling on the bed of the appellant's
crucial was not a "natural and necessary result"
of the previous acts of the appellant.

See also the case of People vs Barnes, 182
Mich, 179, 140 N. W. 400. In the case the defen-
dant drove at a greater speed than was allowed
by law. His automobile ran over and killed a
person who was in the street. The defendant was
convicted of involuntary manslaughter. This
case was reversed by the Supreme Court of Michigan
on the ground that death did not necessarily
ensue as a direct and natural result.

See also case of State vs Lingman, decided
by the Supreme Court of Utah on June 5, 1939,
97 Utah Reports, page 180, 92 Pacific 2nd 457.
This case will be referred to under later sections.

C

THAT THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING THE DEFEND-
ANT'S MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT.

(T 197 A 60)

Counsel for the defense moved after all the
evidence was in for a directed verdict in two

grounds, to-wit:

1. That there had been shown no causal connection between the drinking on the part of the appellant and the death of Harlan Kofold.

2. That there was not shown any joint act and intent, or criminal negligence as is required by the laws of the State of Utah.

1.

Lack of causal connection

Consideration was given to this point under (c) supra. There was no further testimony given by the defense to substantiate the State's position that the accident was caused by the drinking of the appellant prior to the accident. Evidence presented by the defense tended to show that the defendant turned off the road to avoid an oncoming vehicle. See Section I ante. Also T 100 A 23.

(T 104 A 41)

2.

Lack of a showing of joint act and intent or criminal negligence.

The necessity of a union of act plus intent or criminal negligence is fundamental in criminal law.

The provision in our Utah Code is as follows:

Revised Statutes of Utah 1933 1-5-1-19, "In every crime or public offense there must exist a union or joint operation of act and intent or criminal negligence."

In this case there was not enough evidence to show that the appellant was drunk. There was no evidence of speeding or other negligent act. The evidence presented by those who were in the cab of the truck (the only witnesses who actually saw the whole of the accident) was to the effect that the defendant and appellant acted reasonably to avoid a head-on collision with an oncoming car.

See the discussion under I, also T 130 A 32.

(T 14 A 41)

D

THAT THE COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING THE WITNESS
LE ROY D. WILLIAMS TO TESTIFY AS AN EXPERT ON
HANDWRITING FOR THE REASON THAT HE WAS NOT PROPERLY
QUALIFIED AS AN EXPERT ON HIS OWN TESTIMONY. (T 191)

The appellant contends that Le Roy Williams
by his own testimony disqualified himself as an
expert in handwriting, and so his testimony in

which he proports. to identify the handwriting on the State's proposed exhibits E, F, and G, should not have been admitted.

MR. GIBSON on voir dire examined the witness as to his qualifications. The questions and answers were as follows: (T101 A 22-23)

Q. Mr. Williams, what was your occupation before four years ago when you started to work for the Liquor Control Commission?

A. Traveling salesman.

Q. Have you gone to school or taken any course of study in handwriting?

A. No, I never had any course at the university. I had occasion to use it very extensively when I had charge of the files for the U. P. Railroad for six years.

Q. You had no special training, just picked it up, and say this is the same, or isn't the same writing?

A. Yes.

Jones Commentaries in Evidence, page 388, quotes Mr. Justice Lee in Jones vs Tucker 41 N. D.

546 "An expert must have been the subject upon w.
he gives his opinion a matter of particular, study,
practice, or observation, and he must have part-
icular and special knowledge on the subject."

It is apparent from the answers witness made
to the questions propounded to him that he did
not have "particular and special knowledge on
the subject."

E

THAT THE COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING INTO EV-
DENCE STATE'S EXHIBIT "A" OVER OBJECTION.

(T 14: A 77)

The court admitted into evidence a bottle
of whisky found yards away from the accident in
a beet field. The only evidence tending to tie it
with the accident is the testimony stating that
the defendant had purchased that brand of liquor
and the testimony of the witness Bjoblon who
stated that he saw a bottle of whiskey at that
accident that looked like Exhibit A but he didn't
know whether or not it was the same bottle. This
is not enough of a connection to tie Exhibit A
with the accident. There are thou ands of bottles

of Gold and Whiskey should in this State. No instruction was given concerning the weight the jury should place on the evidence so admitted.

(T 144 A 3)

P.

THAT THE COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING THE DEFENDANT'S OBJECTION TO THE CONVERSATION BETWEEN LUTHER M. SMITH AND LOTE KINNEY AT A TIME WHEN THE DEFENDANT WAS NOT PRESENT, FOR THE REASON THAT SAID CONVERSATION WAS HEARSAY AS TO THE DEFENDANT.

(T 176)

Any conversation had between the witness Luther Smith and Lote Kinney in the absence of the defendant was hearsay. That is elementary law. The only excuse for admitting such conversation into evidence is that it comes within one of the exceptions to the hearsay rule. The state did not claim to be using this testimony as such exception but for the purpose of impeaching the witness Luther M. Smith. No attempt was made to try Smith for perjury, nor was there any intention to do so. The only reason the State followed

this line of reasoning was to discredit the defendant and to make him responsible for the witness's statements.

(T 167)

0

THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GRANT
DEFENDANT'S PROPOSED INSTRUCTION NUMBER TWO.

(T. 141 A 61). The written instruction which
was requested is as follows:

"You are instructed that the term, Criminal
Negligence, under the laws of the State of Utah
does not merely mean the failure to exercise
ordinary care or that degree of care which an
ordinary prudent person would exercise under
like circumstances. It means gross negligence.
It is such negligence as shown a to a reckless
disregard of the consequences and of the rights
and safety of others." (A 86).

The appellant contends that the above pro-
posed instruction is clearly within the court's
ruling in the case of State vs. Lingman, decided

97 Utah Reports 1st, 2d Pacific 2nd 457 at
Page 201, Utah Reports.

The Supreme Court in instructing the lower Court as to the proper instruction in the Linman case said the following: "In consequence the instruction of the Court on this question in this case may be substantially as follows: If the jury find that Mrs. Layton was killed by the impact and the impact was caused by the driving of the defendant in a reckless manner or with reckless disregard for the safety of others as charged" in the information, then such driving being unlawful and in violation of the provision of Title 57 as set forth sustains a conviction of manslaughter." The underlined portion in the quotation is ours.

The Court in the same case at Page 198 Utah Reports said "We think the unlawful act, that is the infraction must be done in such a manner as to more than constitute a mere thoughtless omission or slight deviation from the normal prudent conduct. It must be reckless or in marked disregard for the safety of others. The underlining is ours.

The Court will observe that some of the wording in the proposed requested instruction is identical to the wording of the Court in the above quotation.

THAT THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GRANT
DEFENDANT'S PROPOSED INSTRUCTION NUMBER THREE

The written instruction which was requested is as follows: "You are instructed that in order to find the defendant guilty, you must find that the death was the direct and proximate result of the criminal negligence of the defendant."

(A 97)

The appellant contends that the proposed instruction is within the language of the Kingman case 97 Utah Reports 150, Pacific 2nd 457.

See also on this point 2d Corpus Juris 1150 and cases cited.

The author of Corpus Juris at page 1150 says "Death must have been a natural and probable consequence of the unlawful act and the act of

see also in this connection complete discussion under section "1" as it is our opinion that both instructions are closely related, and the discussion is applicable under this section also.

The burden was on the State to prove that the drinking which the defendant had been doing prior to the time of the accident was what caused him to drive the truck off the road.

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