1941

The State of Utah v. C. H. Chealey : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

In that case the defendant was carrying a gun contrary to the statutes of the state, which gun was discharged

during a friendly scuffle with the deceased, the bullet striking and killing the deceased. The court properly refused to sustain a conviction because the act of carrying a gun which was the unlawful act alleged, was not the proximate cause of the death of the deceased. The proximate cause of death of the deceased was the friendly scuffle which resulted in the discharge of the gun, which act was not unlawful and could not sustain a conviction.

In the case of *People vs. Barnes*, 148 N. W. 400, also relied upon by defendant, the case was reversed because of an instruction given by the court to the effect that if the jury found that the defendant was driving an automobile more than ten miles per hour at the time the fatal collision occurred, they should find him guilty. The court pointed out there that ten miles an hour was not an unreasonable or unsafe speed, and that the accident might just as well have happened if the defendant had been going nine miles an hour as if he had been going eleven miles an hour. Furthermore the court pointed out that the deceased stepped in front of the car, and the court implies that the deceased's negligence was the proximate cause of the death.

In order for an act to be a proximate cause of an injury it is not necessary that the injury would necessarily follow from the act or even that the person acting negligently should be able to see that the precise type of injury might occur as a result of the act. It is sufficient if a person of ordinary caution and prudence would have been able to foresee that some injury would likely result from the act, not necessarily that the specific injury would result from the act.

Neiswender vs. Topeka Township, (Kan.) 79 P (2d) 839; Railway Co. vs Parry (Kan.) 73 P. 105; Hartnett vs. Boston Store of Chicago, (Ill.) 106 N. E. 837; Smith vs. Lampe, 64 Fed. (2d) 201; Handleys vs. Texas and Pacific Coal Co. (Tex.) 207 S. W. 375; Cleveland C. C. & St. L. R. Co. vs. Tauer (Ind.) 96 N. E. 758; Voshall vs. Northern Pacific Terminal Co., (Ore.) 240 P. 891.

It is of course necessary that the unlawful act directly caused or set in motion a chain of events uninterrupted by any independent unforeseeable event, which caused the injury or death. Applying these tests to the case at issue there can be little doubt that an unlawful act of the defendant was the proximate cause of the death of Harlan Junior Kofold. The jury from the evidence presented might very well have found that the defendant was driving while under the influence of intoxicating liquor, or they might very well have found that he operated his vehicle carelessly and negligently, and with disregard of the safety of others in that he drove the vehicle off the road at a place where the road was clear of other traffic at sufficient speed that the truck hit the shoulder of the road and tipped over.

An examination of the evidence leaves little doubt that there was sufficient evidence on which the jury might have made either of these findings. In regard to the drunkenness of the defendant, we have testimony from both defense witnesses that he had been drinking. Furthermore, we have the testimony of the State's witness, Shieb, that the defendant was obviously drunk some minutes after the acci-

dent when he was taken to the County Jail. The defendant makes the claim that Shieb's testimony on this point is contrary to the testimony of another State's witness, Mr. Kinney. However, an examination of the record does not sustain this point. Shieb's testimony was to the effect that the defendant was confused as to the direction he was driving. This is corroborated by Kinney. The fact that Shieb said the defendant was incoherent, while Kinney stated he was able to understand him, indicates no conflict. There are various degrees of incoherency. A man may merely be difficult to understand or it may be impossible to understand him.

As to the condition of the highway at the time the accident occurred, the State produced two witnesses who were there at the time who testified that they saw no traffic on the highway at the time or immediately preceding the accident. The testimony of the defendant's witness Smith that he saw a California car approaching, which forced the defendant to turn out to miss it, was completely impeached by evidence as to Smith's prior inconsistent statements, while the jury evidently chose, as well they might, to disbelieve the testimony of the defendant in this regard. It can scarcely be claimed, therefore, that there was not sufficient evidence upon which the jury might base a finding either of drunken driving or gross and culpable negligence.

ARGUMENT III

THE COURT COMMITTED NO ERROR IN
PERMITTING THE WITNESS, LEROY D. WIL-

LIAMS, TO TESTIFY AS AN EXPERT ON HAND- WRITING.

The defendant in attacking the qualifications of the State's witness, Leroy D. Williams, to testify as a handwriting expert seems to proceed on the theory that it is necessary for a person to attend a special school where handwriting is studied in order to qualify as an expert. The defendant quotes from Jones, Commentaries on Evidence, Section 369, as follows:

"An expert must have made the subject upon which he gives his opinion a matter of particular study, practice, or observation and he must have particular and special knowledge on the subject."

The next sentence, which they omitted from the argument, reads:

"While it is clear that the witness in order to be competent as an expert must show himself to be skilled in the business or profession to which the subject relates, there is no precise rule as to the mode in which such skill or experience must be acquired. Thus the witness may have become qualified by actual experience or long observation without having made a study of the subject."

In the case of *In Re Burbank*, 93 N. Y. Sup. 866, the court describes a handwriting expert as:

"Any person who has had such experience in the examination of handwriting as to enable him to note and distinguish the characteristics of handwriting."

In *Griffin vs. Working Womens' Association*, 151 Ala. 604, in discussing the problem of expert testimony as to handwriting, the court states:

“To legalize such testimony the witness must be first shown to be an expert, that is accustomed to and skilled in the matter of handwriting genuine and spurious.

With this standard or rule the question of competency of the witness seems to be one addressed to the sound judgment and discretion of the court, and its ruling is not reviewable on appeal unless there is shown an abuse of this discretion.”

In the case at issue the witness Williams testified, that for four years while working for the State Liquor Commission it had been his responsibility to compare handwritings, and that during this time he had been called upon to give his opinion as to handwriting, and that he had testified regarding such matters in courts of record. For the six years previous to that he had been in charge of files for the Union Pacific Railroad where he had occasion to use his knowledge of handwriting very extensively. The defendant bases his assignment of error solely upon the statement of the witness on cross examination that he had no special training, but had just picked up his skill as an expert in handwriting. The State submits that in view of the above cited authorities special training is not necessary, and that such skill can very well be gained by experience. The matter of whether or not the witness should have been permitted to testify is a matter which was within the discretion of the trial court, and there is nothing to indicate an abuse of that discretion.

Furthermore, if it should be held that the court was in error in admitting Williams' testimony, such testimony cannot be held to have impaired the substantial rights of the de-

fendant. Williams' testimony merely went to prove that handwriting on certain liquor sales slips was the defendant's handwriting. This, of course, was for the purpose of proving that the defendant purchased liquor at certain stores at a certain time. This matter, however, ceased to be in controversy in the case when the defendant's witness Smith testified as recorded on pages 164 and 165 of the transcript that Chealey had bought liquor at the times and places claimed by the State. The defendant himself on cross examination, recorded on page 181 of the transcript, admitted that he bought the two bottles of whiskey. Williams' testimony, therefore, merely went to a point which was later admitted by the defense, and so whether properly or improperly admitted, cannot be said to prejudice the defendant in any way.

ARGUMENT IV

STATE'S EXHIBIT A WAS PROPERLY ADMITTED IN EVIDENCE.

State's Exhibit A in this case was a bottle of whiskey which was found by officers in the field adjacent to the scene of the accident on the day following the accident. It was the brand of whiskey purchased by the defendant in the case which he subsequently admitted was in the car at the time of the accident. The State's witness Sjoberg moreover testified that he had seen a bottle of whiskey at the scene of the accident which to all appearances was identical with Exhibit A. This is sufficient evidence to give some reasonable basis for identity and while the evidence may not have a great deal of weight, that is a matter which should be left

to the jury. The defendant had, and no doubt took advantage of, an opportunity to point out to the jury the fact that this evidence had very little bearing upon the case. However, as stated above, this is a matter of weight and not of admissibility.

This same question was involved in the Iowa case of *State vs. Jenkins*, 212 N. W. 475, in which case the defendant who was accused of drunken driving tipped his car over. A bottle of whiskey was found in the vicinity of the car in a ditch and was admitted in evidence. In this case although there was no testimony as to the appearance of the bottle or no testimony that the defendant had any whiskey in his car the court upheld the admission of this evidence. See also in this regard *State vs. Tibbetts* (Iowa) 22 N. E. 423.

In *Hess vs. State* (Ind.) 151 N. E. 405, the following language is found:

“Appellant’s motion to strike from the record all evidence pertaining to the liquor found in the stove-pipe for the reason that there was no evidence showing that this liquor belonged to appellant or that he had any knowledge of its being there was overruled, and this ruling is one of the causes assigned for a new trial.* * * It seems to us the question thus presented challenges the weight of the evidence rather than its admissibility. The overruling of the motion to strike out was not error.”

In *Kelly vs. State*, 278 S. W. 449, the Supreme Court of Texas upheld the admission into evidence of whiskey found along the bank of the creek where the defendant was seen to walk in the direction of the creek carrying a package and to return without the package.

The evidence here presented, which is undisputed, is to the effect that the defendant purchased a bottle of Gold Bond whiskey which was in the truck with him at the time of the accident; and that the whiskey bottle was seen at the scene of the accident immediately after the accident occurred. This is sufficient certainly to give rise to an inference that the whiskey picked up in the field immediately next to the scene of the accident was the same bottle of whiskey, and the most that can be attacked about such evidence is its weight, and not its admissibility.

ARGUMENT V

THE COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED EVIDENCE AS TO THE CONVERSATION BETWEEN LUTHER W. SMITH AND LOTE KINNEY FOR THE PURPOSE OF IMPEACHING SMITH'S TESTIMONY.

The rule of law that a witness may be impeached by the introduction of evidence as to prior conflicting statements or conduct of such witnesses is elementary. Jones' Commentaries on Evidence at Section 845, 1 Ed., says:

"There is hardly any more familiar practice in judicial procedure than that of impeaching witnesses by proof of their former statements which are inconsistent with their present testimony."

In order to introduce evidence as to such prior conflicting statements, it is necessary that a foundation be laid by asking the witness to be impeached on cross examination whether or not he made such statements in order that he might have an opportunity to explain away the inconsistencies, if there is any explanation. In this case the district attor-

ney questioned the defendant, Smith, about his prior inconsistent statements, and Smith freely admitted that he had made these statements so that it was unnecessary for the state to introduce evidence as to the statements. Smith's only explanation of the inconsistencies was a claim that he had lied when making the former statements.

There are two recent Utah cases in which this court passed upon the matter here assigned as error. In the first of these, Buckley vs. Francis, 78 Utah 606, 6 Pac. (2d), 188, the court stated:

"It is an elementary rule of law that a witness may be impeached as to testimony given upon a material issue by proof that such witness has made prior self-contradictory statements."

In State vs. Fairclough, 86 Utah 326, 44 Pac. (2d), 692 in which the defendant was charged with mayhem, committed on his sister-in-law, and in which case his wife testified for him, a prior inconsistent statement of the wife to the effect that her husband had bitten off the end of her sister's nose, was admitted.

The defense counsel in that case objected that such testimony was hearsay as to the defendant. The court stated:

"It is also objected that the conversations were hearsay and hence inadmissible. This undoubtedly was hearsay, but was admissible for the purpose of impeachment, and for that purpose only. The assignment is without merit."

In the case now before this court, Smith testified that the accident occurred when the defendant drove the truck off the road to avoid striking the oncoming car, which Smith claimed he saw approaching them. The prior statements made

by Smith were to the effect that he was asleep at the time of the accident. It is obvious, therefore, that these prior statements could have no effect upon the case, except to impeach Smith's testimony, and were offered for and accepted for no other purpose.

ARGUMENT VI

THE COURT PROPERLY REFUSED DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NO. 2.

The defendant submitted a written request for an instruction as follows:

"You are instructed that the term 'criminal negligence' under the laws of the State of Utah does not merely mean the failure to exercise ordinary care or that degree of care which an ordinary prudent person would exercise under like circumstances. It means gross negligence. It is such negligence as amounts to a reckless disregard of the consequences, and of the rights and safety of others."

Just what purpose could be served by a definition of the term "criminal negligence" is hard to determine in view of the fact that the trial court at no place in its other instructions used the term "criminal negligence." Nor is the State able to determine from the case of *State vs. Lingman*, 97 Utah 180, which is relied upon by the defendant herein, that it is necessary or proper in charging the jury in an involuntary manslaughter case that the court must use the term "criminal negligence."

In Instruction No. 5 the court undertook to instruct the jury regarding the elements of the crime of involuntary manslaughter. An examination of the terminology used in this instruction will reveal that the court has attempted to follow

the terminology approved by this court in *State vs. Lingman*, and at nowhere does the term “criminal negligence” appear. Therefore, no need arises for instructing the jury regarding the proper definition of such term. Such an instruction could only tend to confuse the minds of the jury.

Whether or not Instruction No. 5 is in all regards in compliance with the rules laid down in *State vs. Lingman* is, of course, not before this court, as the defendant does not in his brief make any argument regarding the propriety of this instruction.

Instruction No. 5 lists five acts all of which are prohibited by Title 57, R. S. U. and so under the ruling in the *Lingman* case come under arm (a) of the involuntary manslaughter statute. All of these acts with the possible exception of No. 5c are *malum in se* and under the ruling laid down in the *Lingman* case will support a charge of involuntary manslaughter when death results therefrom whether it is alleged that they are done in a reckless and careless manner or not. As to whether or not the court’s instruction 5C is proper we need not discuss here as there is no evidence which was introduced in the case from which the jury could have found that the defendant was driving in excess of fifty miles an hour, and the giving of this instruction was not argued in the defendant’s brief.

ARGUMENT VII

THE COURT PROPERLY REFUSED TO GIVE
DEFENDANT’S REQUESTED INSTRUCTIONS NO.
3 AND 4.

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